Figure 1. Location plan.
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A late-prehistoric enclosure on the Mendip Hills
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Summary

A large-scale survey of Burrington Camp was undertaken as part of the English Heritage archaeological
survey of the Mendip Hills Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) in February 2007.Burrington Camp
is a multi-phase hill-slope enclosure of late prehistoric date.The initial phase of construction comprised an
L-shaped bank and ditch which de!ned a spur at the western end of Burrington Ham. A sub-rectangular
enclosure was later constructed within the earlier bank and ditch. This was de!ned by an internal quarry
ditch which provided material for the enlargement of the original rampart and the creation of an outer
bank on the remaining two sides.The later phase also involved the construction of an entrance through the
original bank and ditch towards the north-eastern corner of the enclosure.
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Location and geology

The earthwork remains of Burrington Camp lie towards the northern boundary of the Mendip
Hills AONB (Fig. 1). The monument is situated on the northern edge of the main limestone plateau,
approximately 0.4km southwest of the village of Burrington (centred ST 4782 5878), at about 165m
above OD.The site sits at the north-western end of Burrington Ham, on a short limestone spur,
within an area of rough grassland and scrub. North of Burrington Camp the limestone plateau falls
steeply through deciduous woodland to the spring-line settlements of Burrington and Rickford
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Figure 2. Burrington Camp:
map showing topographic
setting (right). Air
photograh of Burrington
Camp looking southwest
(NMR ST 475812 29-
MAR-1969)(left).

in North Somerset. The southern and western extents of Burrington Ham are delned by the
near vertical limestone gorge of Burrington Combe which carves its way through the edge of the
plateau and up onto higher ground (Fig. 2). The highest point of Burrington Ham lies 140m to the
southeast of the enclosure and takes the form of a limestone outcrop, rising to about 185m above
OD, located at the western end of a narrow ridge. Looking northwards from Burrington Camp
there are impressive views out over the Yeo Valley to Broad!eld Down.The Bristol Channel lies to
the northwest with the southern coast of Wales visible on a clear day.

Burrington Camp lies mainly on Clifton Down Limestone, with the southern rampart overlying
Burrington Oolite and the northern ditch overlying calcite-mudstone (ichinastoneT).All form part
of the Clifton Down Group of the Carboniferous period (British Geological Survey Wells, sheet
280).

The survey

Burrington Camp was surveyed at 1:500 scale in February 2007 by staff from the Exeter and York
oflces of the Archaeological Survey and Investigation section of English Heritage. The site was
surveyed as part of the English Heritage Mendip Hills AONB project.
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Figure 3. Burrington
Camp: reproduced
from the Ordnance
Survey Irst edition

map of 1885.

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND AND PREVIOUSWORK

One of the earliest descriptions of Burrington Camp dates from the early 18" century and was
produced by John Strachey, a distinguished geologist and antiquarian of the day. The description
reads as follows: {On the rampart behind two ditches on the Ham is a camp or entrenchment of 150
paces square said to be British but rather Saxon because its reported to be in opposition to Dolbery or
Danesbury in Churchil. This work on the combe is overlooked by a rude rock called the Castle and to the
west of this intrenchment is a precipicei. A small sketch of Burrington camp was drawn in the margin

showing three concentric rectangles with entrances on three sides (Williams 1987, 61).

A more accurate depiction of the enclosure appears on the Ordnance Survey (OS) !rst edition
map of 1885 (Fig. 3). The map indicates that the areas of Burrington Ham to the east and north
of the site were more open at this time, depicting them as areas of grassland. The OS !rst edition

map also shows the location of quarries and limekilns to the west of the site in Burrington Combe
(OS 1885).

Burrington Camp is included in Allcroftis Earthwork of England (1908) in which he describes the site
as: éa very curious work, apparently a hybrid between the military and the ritual methods of constructioni.
His reasoning for this is the existence of an inner ditch or éfossei which he infers indicates similarities
with ritual sites. He quotes the Rev. Collinson from the late 18" century who suggests the site to be
{Druidicali, and to have some connection with the stone circles at Stanton Drew.Allcroft produced
what must be viewed as a sketch plan of the site, somewhat inaccurate in form and scale, which
depicts the main elements of the monument (Allcroft 1908, 582-4).

A brief description and plan of the site were included in the Victoria County History (VCH) for
Somerset published in 1911.A rampart walk and breastwork were identi!ed along the southern and
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Figure 4. Burrington
Camp: Section
through eastern
rampart (after
Tratman 1962-3,
19.4).

the eastern sides of the monument, the rampart walk being less distinct along the latter (VCH 1911,
483-4). Burrow (1924) also refers to atkind of platformi along the inner sides of the rampart on the
east and south sides. Burrowis plan of the site would appear to be based on the one published by
Alicroft (above), giving the site a more oval form than is really the case. Burrow also claims to have
found a number of leaf-shaped arrowheads at the site, made not from "int but from limestone, one

of which is on display in Wells museum (Burrow 1924, 68-9).

An accurate earthwork survey of Burrington Camp at 1: 500 scale was produced by JH Crickmay,
R Clove and J Lowndes in June of 1949.This plan was reproduced by EK Tratman in his article on
Burrington Camp published in 1962-3 (Tratman 1962-3, 16-21). This article reported the results
of the archaeological excavations undertaken at the site by members of the Bristol University
Spelaeological Society in 1948 and 1960.The 1948 excavations took the form of a trench through
the inner and outer ditches, extending into the bank, on the eastern side of the enclosure. The only
I'nd recorded during this work was a crudely-shaped small slab of Old Red Sandstone thought to
represent a possible pot cover. In 1960 the earlier cuttings were tidied up and extended part way
through the bank on both sides (Fig. 4). This work identiled no structural features relating to the
bank; it was of dump construction created from material excavated from both ditches. The outer
ditch was "'at bottomed and cut into the natural limestone with stone from the cutting piled onto
the outer face of the bank.The inner ditch was shallower and did not cut the underlying rock. Both
ditches had silted signi!cantly with the outer ditch ¢ 1.8m deeper when originally constructed.
Excavations showed evidence of a berm between the edge of the ditch and the bank.No nds were
recorded. The campaign of work in 1960 also involved a series of trial pits, each 4ft (1.2m) square,
dug in the interior of the enclosure in an attempt to Ind dateable material. A total of 15 trial pits

were excavated and énot a single ancient object was foundi.

Topsoil Stony layer with clayish Silting of ditch 0% Stones
material 22 0 10 metres
. L 1
E Brown sub-soil with a . Weathered rock surface Bank slip E Carboniferous Limestone
few stones

The site is brie"y mentioned by LV Grinsell in The Archaeology of Wessex (1958), where he describes
Burrington Camp as a small univallate hillfort (Grinsell 1958, 165).In Hillfort and Hill-top Settlement in
Somerset in the First to Eighth Century A.D. (1981) Burrow also classes Burrington Camp as a hillfort,
although he does highlight the weak defensive position of the site. He describes the enclosure as
consisting of: éa roughly rectangular enclosure de!ned by a bank with an outer ditch and an inner quarry
ditchi. He also records the location of a spring, outside the enclosure towards the north-eastern
corner (Burrow 1981, 244-6).

The Ordnance Survey Archaeological Division revised the original !'rst edition survey plan at 1:2500
scale in 1966 (NMR ST 45 NE 43).
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Figure 6. Burrington

Camp: the southern
and eastern rampart
and outer ditch.

BURRINGTON CAMP:THE EARTHWORKSgs.5¢7)

Introduction
Burrington Camp is a niti-phase site incorporating an L-gieal bank and ditch within which lies a
sub-rectangular enclosure formed by an internal quaditch with an outer bank along two sides.

The L-shaped bank and ditch

The L-shaped bank and ditch is a substantiaheark running from west to eastof ¢ 116m
before turning nothwardsand continuing for a fiher ¢ 130m.The grass and scrub-eeredbank
and ditch has anwerall width of between 9.8-11.4mwjth the bank standing a maximm of 2.3m
high and the ack-cut ditch 1.2m deep (Fig). The western limit of the bank ends in asl-de!ned
terminal,standing 1m highwhich cuwvesslightly northwardswith the ditch fading as the gund
begins to drop steeply into theogge belav. The northern extent of the moaoment also ends
with a well-de!ned terminal to the bank and ditctjth the ditch0.7m deep and the bankyuch
slighter at this poinstanding onf 0.3m highlowardsthe northern end there is also evidence of a
counterscarp bank associated with the ditch which runs soutbe/&@r ¢ 40m from the northern

terminal of the ditch and stands a maximum of 0.2m high.

The inner enclosure

The inner encloswe is formed by a sub-rectangular ditohientated notheast-southwestyith an
outer bank on the northern and eastern sidébe featurehas been constructed in the angle of
the L-shaed linear eathwork (above)which brms the outer bank and ditch on the eastern and
southern sides'he enclosure meases 76m southeast-n¢lwest by 110m notheast-southwest
internall, with the eathworks enclosing an aa ofc 0.8haThe grass and braek-covered ditch
and bank areelativey well presered along rmch of their lengthakhough large sections of the

wedern side are covered in dense vegetation.

The western side of the enclosarcomprises a ditch and outer battke ditch being most substaat
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